# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO				
(Court of Appeals No. 68339-0-I)				
RAFEL LAW GROUP PLLC,				
Respondent,				
v.				
STACEY DEFOOR,				
Petitioner.				
PETITION FOR REVIEW				



Roger A. Leishman, WSBA #19971 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax

Attorneys for Petitioner Stacey Defoor

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Stacey Defoor seeks review of the decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

This Court has a unique responsibility for overseeing attorney

conduct and regulation in Washington. Because attorneys enjoy a privileged position of trust, the Court adopted RPC 1.8(a), which imposes strict disclosure requirements on attorney-client transactions.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals instead embraced an erroneous *caveat emptor* standard—ruling in a published decision that as long as there is no existing attorney-client relationship at the time of the transaction, a lawyer is free to demand compensation for legal services under any non-monetary business terms without disclosing his own adverse interests, and may also require the client to guarantee payment of past and future fees by granting a security interest in *any* of her property, regardless of its connection to the litigation. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) for three reasons:

First, the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's precedents and rules regarding attorney-client business transactions. An agreement renegotiating a client's prior fee obligations to the substantial benefit of the attorney is a "business transaction." Valley/50th Ave., L.L.C. v. Stewart, 159 Wn.2d 736, 744-45, 153 P.3d 186 (2007). And contrary to

the conclusion of the lower courts, RPC 1.8 applies to non-monetary business transactions included as part of a new client engagement. *See*, *e.g.*, RPC 1.8 cmt. 1; *Holmes v. C.E. Loveless*, 122 Wn. App. 470, 475, 94 P.3d 338 (2004).

Second, RPC 1.8 also applies to security interests acquired by attorneys as part of their engagement agreement. See, e.g., RPC 1.8(a), (i), & cmts. 1, 16. As concurring Judge Ann Schindler observed in urging this Court to accept review, the Court of Appeals' decision directly conflicts with authority from other jurisdictions and with opinions by the WSBA and ABA regarding this rule. Op. ¶ 75.

*Third*, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard for summary judgment under CR 56 to the parties' additional claims.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Defoor seeks review of the opinion filed on August 19, 2013, by Division I of the Court of Appeals ("Op."), affirming the Superior Court's summary judgment of dismissal. *See* Appendix at A-1 to A-22.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does RPC 1.8(a)'s disclosure requirement apply to an engagement agreement where the attorney requires the client to enter into a concurrent business transaction with the attorney in exchange for providing legal services?

- 2. Does RPC 1.8(a) apply to an engagement agreement where the attorney purports to acquire a security interest in *all* of the client's property, regardless of its connection to the litigation?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals improperly weigh the evidence where disputed factual issues precluded summary judgment on the reasonableness of RLG's fee claim and on Defoor's counterclaims?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual Background

1. RLG's Engagement and Re-Engagement.

Petitioner-Defendant Stacey Defoor was the plaintiff in the underlying Defoor Litigation, which involved the dissolution of her 19-year committed intimate relationship with Terry Defoor. After the couple separated, Terry<sup>1</sup> ran off with the couple's lucrative real estate business and over \$8 million in cash, leaving Defoor holding only encumbered residences, few other assets, and all of the couple's debt. CP 1638.

Respondent-Plaintiff Rafel Law Group PLLC ("RLG") represented Defoor during two periods in the Defoor Litigation. In Matter 1, RLG took over from Defoor's original counsel and agreed to represent Defoor on a contingent fee basis through trial and appeal. CP 1668. Instead, RLG withdrew on the eve of trial. CP 1671-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defoor's dispute with Terry was before the Court of Appeals in *Defoor v. Defoor*, 157 Wn. App. 1033, 2010 WL 3220165 (Wn. App. Div. 1 Aug. 16, 2010).

Attorneys who withdraw with good cause from a contingent fee representation may assert a *quantum meruit* claim reflecting the relative contribution from their services in the event the client eventually obtains a recovery—but the withdrawing attorney foregoes any contract claim or risk premium.<sup>2</sup> Nevertheless, RLG filed notices of attorney's lien under RCW 60.40.010 asserting a huge purported claim against Defoor. CP 1681, 1688 (App. at A-30). RLG contended she was contractually obligated to pay \$775,000 for a few months' work in Matter 1, without disclosing how it calculated the amount of its fee. CP 1795.

Before RLG sued Defoor, *no one* had actually reviewed the raw time entries that are the basis of the Matter 1 judgment and lien notices. CP 999-1000. Discovery in this case eventually revealed that the claimed amount was based on secret premium contingent-fee rates rather than RLG's normal billing rates, CP 1646, and included admittedly unreasonable charges, Op. ¶ 65, and disputed expert fees, CP 1704. The claim also included much higher costs than RLG had promised Defoor. CP 1640. The total claim tripled the other side's legal expenses for the same period. CP 1792, 1940. Even after RLG's long-delayed exercise of billing judgment (reducing its original WIP by 1.6% for purposes of summary judgment), excessive time remains. For example, the final

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Ross v. Scannell, 97 Wn.2d 598, 608, 647 P.2d 1004 (1982); Ausler v. Ramsey, 73 Wn. App. 231, 238, 868 P.2d 877 (1994).

judgment amount for Matter 1 includes over \$1,000 for 2.4 hours spent on February 12, 2008—when RLG supposedly no longer represented Defoor—to "draft re-engagement agreement and promissory note." CP 1775. See also CP 2908 (additional examples of excessive time entries).

RLG's lavish lien filing prevented Defoor from obtaining new counsel for trial. CP 1630-31. She had no alternative to signing the Settlement & Re-Engagement Agreement demanded by RLG as a condition of representing her in Matter 2. CP 1647. The Agreement required Defoor to pay the full \$775,000 that RLG contended she had an "obligation" to pay for Matter 1, regardless of whether she obtained any recovery. App. at A-24 (CP 1846). Unlike RLG's prior unliquidated *quantum meruit* claim, Defoor's now-contractual obligation included \$505,000 for unidentified legal services and \$270,000 in alleged costs for Matter 1, as well as interest at 12% from January 10, 2008—even for services that had not yet been performed, CP 1775, and for costs that *still* are unpaid and disputed. A-25. The Agreement also granted RLG a right to fees and a broad lien covering both the full claim amount for Matter 1 and additional fees incurred going forward in Matter 2, with RLG demanding a security interest in "any assets"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals characterizes this contention as new. Op. ¶¶ 36-37. In fact, Defoor repeatedly objected to RLG's charging her for legal services while denying it represented Defoor. App. Br. 30; RP 103 ("On its face that's evidence that she was a current client"); see also McKinney v. City of Tukwila, 103 Wn. App. 391, 400-01, 13 P.3d 631 (2000) (argument preserved when brought to trial court's attention at summary judgment hearing).

of Defoor, whether awarded in the Litigation, obtained in settlement, or otherwise." A-24, 28 (emphasis added). There is no dispute that if RPC 1.8 applies to the Settlement & Re-Engagement Agreement, RLG did not satisfy its disclosure requirements. See, e.g., Op. ¶ 81 n.6 (citing In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against McGlothlen, 99 Wn.2d 515, 525, 663 P.2d 1330 (1983)).

# 2. RLG's Failure to Track Community Assets After the Defoors' Separation.

One day after first being engaged by Defoor, RLG's "list of things to do" included hiring a forensic accountant to "track the money since the date of separation." CP 1924. RLG represented to the court under oath that hiring "accountants to analyze ... Mr. Defoor's disposition of millions of dollars in community assets following the parties' separation" was "absolutely essential to assure that Ms. Defoor's interests are properly protected." CP 1927-31 (emphasis added). Expert testimony confirms an attorney's standard of care requires such post-separation tracing. CP 2064-67.

Nevertheless, RLG and its accounting expert inexplicably failed to trace Terry's post-separation disposition of community assets, including over \$8 million in cash. One glaring example of RLG's failure involves a \$1,050,000 payment of community funds Terry received in Fall 2007,

most of which he immediately placed into a new UBS bank account. The Court of Appeals erroneously credited RLG's assertion that it was "unaware" Terry had "transferred a substantial portion of the Camwest \$1,050,000 assignment fee (\$950,000) to a UBS bank account No. 0248335," concluding as a matter of law RLG did not commit malpractice because Defoor could claim a share of these funds as "undisclosed" community-like assets. Op. ¶¶ 11, 45; see also CP 3709 (RLG asserted Terry "did not produce bank statements for this account in response to requests for production"). To the contrary, while the second UBS account statements cannot be found in RLG's own records that it turned over to Defoor at the conclusion of its representation in 2009, files produced in this case by the expert RLG hired in the Defoor litigation reveal that *Terry himself* disclosed the UBS records in discovery. CP 1653. RLG forwarded the bank statements to its expert—but failed to include them in its analysis or retain a copy in its files. *Id*; CP 2093-2108, 2110-19.

At trial, Judge Inveen expressly refused to allocate Defoor any value from millions of dollars in undisputed community assets because RLG failed to provide the court with an adequate record tracing those same assets—including the \$950,000 UBS account. CP 2303-04. Judge Inveen instead entered a Judgment confirming Defoor's ownership of property already in her possession, awarding limited additional property

and a share in any future income from (now abandoned) real estate projects, and entered a money judgment in the amount of \$2,223,368.60 calculated based on the balance in another UBS account. CP 3588.

During Terry's largely unsuccessful appeal, he and his companies each declared bankruptcy. CP 1639. This foreclosed most opportunities for Defoor to collect from Terry, other than obtaining title to a single commercial property in SeaTac that is the subject of competing creditor claims. *Id.* Since engaging RLG in 2007, Defoor herself has yet to recover a dime from Terry. CP 1648.

## B. Procedural History

RLG filed its Complaint in this action on June 10, 2010, seeking the same \$505,000 in attorneys' fees and \$270,000 costs for Matter 1 referred to in its liens and the Re-Engagement Agreement, an additional \$509,212.63 in fees and costs for Matter 2, and prejudgment interest. CP 1-8, 27-53, CP 55-126. RLG's attorney informed Defoor that "[s]ince you are [re]presenting yourself in this new lawsuit, we are required to serve you under CR5(b)," and "will do so both by mail and by email." CP 169. Nevertheless, RLG instead obtained an ex parte Order of Default and a Default Judgment against Ms. Defoor in the amount of \$1,599,995.92. CP 214-15, 216-18.

Defoor engaged counsel who moved to vacate the Order of Default

and Default Judgment. CP 127-39. On November 5, 2010, then-Judge Steven González granted the motion to vacate. CP 245-46.

Defoor challenged RLG's fee claim and asserted various counterclaims against RLG. CP 485-88. Defoor filed a motion for partial summary judgment contending the Settlement & Re-Engagement Agreement was invalid under RPC 1.8. CP 617-42. RLG moved for a determination of the validity of the Agreement, for entry of judgment on a newly-recalculated claim for payment in Matter 1 and Matter 2, and for dismissal of Defoor's counterclaims. CP 869-94, 591-616.

On December 6, 2011, Judge Mary Yu entered orders ruling in favor of RLG on each motion. CP 2843-47, 2848-52, 2953-57, 2858-62. The trial court concluded that "RPC 1.8 does not apply as a matter of law" because "Defoor was not a client at the time the subject Agreement was negotiated and signed." CP 2851. Judge Yu later granted RLG's motion for \$490,563.81 in prejudgment interest, CP 3121, and awarded RLG \$279,749.03 in contractual attorney's fees and costs under the fee-shifting provisions of the Settlement & Re-Engagement Agreement, CP 3466, bringing the total judgment amount against Defoor to \$2,027,316.13.

The Court of Appeal affirmed each of Judge Yu's orders, concluding that RPC 1.8 does not apply to business transactions included in an engagement agreement because if the non-lawyer "is dissatisfied

with the terms of the proposed engagement agreement, the prospective client is free to decline representation or seek representation elsewhere." Op.  $\P$  25. The Court of Appeals also found that "Defoor did not proffer sufficient evidence" to avoid summary judgment. *Id.*  $\P$  68. Judge Ann Schindler filed a separate concurrence, urging this Court to accept review "to address whether RPC 1.8(a) should apply to a security interest acquired during the negotiation of the initial fee agreement." *Id.*  $\P$  75.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Grant Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to Correct the Court of Appeals'
Misinterpretation of the "Business Transaction"
Provision of RAP 1.8.

Lawyers may not "enter into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, security or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client unless" the terms are "fair and reasonable" and "fully disclosed" to the client. RPC 1.8(a), (1) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals held that this rule does not apply to transactions with an attorney when they are "agreed upon during the relationship's formation." Op. ¶ 23. The court's decision conflicts with rulings of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and presents an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court.

First, the Court of Appeals erroneously held the Settlement

Agreement and Note "constitutes nothing other than an accord, the satisfaction of which has not been performed by Defoor." Op. ¶ 28. This odd theory was never briefed by the parties. See, e.g., Resp. Br. 42 ("Rafel does not claim accord and satisfaction"). It is inconsistent with black letter law regarding accord and satisfaction, a doctrine which involves the agreement to accept less than the amount due, not more. See, e.g., U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Whitney, 119 Wn. App. 339, 351, 81 P.3d 135 (2003) (citations omitted). Most significantly, the Court of Appeals' ruling directly conflicts with Valley/50th Ave, where this Court held that obtaining a promissory note and deed of trust to secure payment of previously accrued fees and costs is a "business transaction" for purposes of RPC 1.8(a). 159 Wn.2d at 744-45.

In a dramatic departure from both the parties' original contingent fee arrangement and the *quantum meruit* claim that replaced it when the firm withdrew, RLG significantly improved its position by demanding Defoor obligate herself to pay \$505,000 in legal fees and \$270,000 in alleged costs for Matter 1, irrespective of whether she ever actually recovered anything as a result of the Defoor Litigation. RLG obtained a contractual fee-shifting provision, A-28, resulting in the award of hundreds of thousands of dollars it previously had no right to receive. CP 2466, Op. ¶ 73. RLG also required Defoor to pay interest on the full

\$775,000 from January 10, 2008—even for services that had not been provided by that date, CP 1775, and for expert fees Rafel had not paid, CP 1796, and in some cases continues to contest. CP 3075. Contrary to the conclusion of the Court of Appeals, the provision of the Settlement & Re-Engagement Agreement resolving the parties' dispute over Matter 1 fees and costs to the substantial benefit of RLG in exchange for the firm's agreement to provide legal services going forward constitutes a "business transaction" for purposes of RPC 1.8(a). Valley/50th Ave., 159 Wn.2d at 744-45. Indeed, the Agreement on its face comes within the "exception" to Court of Appeals' own holding regarding RPC 1.8(a) that the court recognized applies to any initial client engagement agreement where the attorney accepts "nonmonetary property as payment for all or part of a fee." Op. ¶¶ 38, 27 (emphasis in original) (citing RPC 1.8 cmt. 1).4

Second, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with established Washington precedent holding that RPC 1.8(a) applies to business transactions—in contrast with ordinary monetary fee agreements—that are included as part of the terms of an attorney's engagement. Holmes, 122 Wn. App. at 475. In Holmes, a law firm entered into an engagement agreement to represent a joint venture called "Loveless/Tollefson"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RLG demanded Defoor accept its terms regarding Matter 1 as a condition for providing legal services in Matter 2. A-23. The terms of the Settlement and the Re-Engagement Agreement are interdependent and cannot be severed from one another. CP 1714.

properties" developing a real estate project. 122 Wn. App. at 473. As part of the engagement agreement, the parties agreed the firm would charge discounted hourly rates for two years and full rates thereafter. In exchange its agreement to provide legal services on these terms, the law firm would receive five percent of the cash distributions produced by the venture. *Id.* When the client later stopped making payments, the lawyers sued to enforce the agreement. The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of the client, holding that the transaction terms were not fair and reasonable under RPC 1.8(a). The court concluded that the engagement agreement at issue "falls within the scope of the business transaction rule" of RPC 1.8. 122 Wn. App. at 473. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case directly conflicts with *Holmes*.

Third, the Court of Appeals erroneously contended that the "structure and organization of the rules" limits the scope of RPC 1.8 because its heading refers to "Current Clients." Op. ¶ 24. But as this Court has recognized, the provisions of RPC 1.8 govern the formation of the attorney-client engagement, and not merely the subsequent conduct of an attorney. See, e.g., State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 100, 225 P.3d 956

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Like the present case, *Holmes* involved an initial attorney-client engagement agreement. The attorneys had previously provided legal services to C.E. Loveless, 122 Wn. App. at 473, but there is no suggestion they represented either the joint venture itself, co-venturer Tollefson, or any other joint venture between them. In any event, in evaluating an attorney's compliance with RPC 1.8, courts must consider the identity of the actual client, not affiliates. *Valley/50th Ave.*, 159 Wn.2d at 747.

(2010) (RPC 1.8 governs terms of public defense engagements); see also RPC 1.8(i) (governing acquisition of interests in subject matter of litigation); RPC 1.8(h) (prohibiting engagement agreements prospectively limiting the lawyer's liability to a client for malpractice).

RPC 1.8(a) applies when there is an "[o]verlap between fee agreements and business transactions." Andrews et al., LAW OF LAWYERING IN WASHINGTON (WSBA 2012) at 7-44. The Court of Appeals itself previously recognized that RPC 1.8(a) applies to business transaction terms that are agreed *concurrently with the engagement agreement*:

[A]lthough the 'business transaction' of making an ordinary fee agreement with a client is regulated by Rule 1.5 (fees) rather than by Rule 1.8(a), both rules are applicable when a lawyer contracts to receive all or part of her fee in the form [of] an interest in the client's venture.

Cotton v. Kronenberg, 111 Wn. App. 258, 272, 271 n.33, 44 P.3d 878 (2002) (quoting Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr. et al., The Law of Lawyering § 12.5 (3rd ed. 2001)). This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' conflicting decision in this case.

B. The Court Should Clarify The Application of RAP 1.8 to Attorneys' Acquisition of Security Interests in Client Property.

A security interest is a valuable property right, with great "potential for economic coercion by attorneys." *Ross*, 97 Wn.2d at 606. RPC 1.8(a)

therefore requires full disclosure and informed consent before an attorney acquires a security interest adverse to a client. As ABA Formal Opinion 02-427 regarding this Model Rule of Professional Conduct states, regardless of whether a security interest in client property is acquired "before, during, or following the representation," it is covered by the requirements of Rule 1.8—either RPC 1.8(i) (which governs an attorney's interest in the subject matter of the litigation itself), or RPC 18(a) (which governs interests in other property). A-43.

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