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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court Should Deny Discretionary Review of the Court of 
Appeals Decision that RPC 1.8(a) Does Not Apply to theRe
Engagement Agreement 

This Court should deny Defoor's request for discretionary review 

of the Court of Appeals' decision that RPC 1.8(a) does not apply. 

1. The Decision Does Not Conflict With Decisions of this 
Court or Other Decisions of the Court of Appeals 

Defoor's request for review under RAP 13(b)(l) and (2) should be 

rejected because the decision does not conflict with any decision of the 

Supreme Court or other decisions by the Court of Appeals. The Court of 

Appeals recognized this when it held that "it would be improper for us to 

import language into the rule to create a broader application than that 

warranted by the text of the rule." Op. at 11. Judge Schindler expressly 

found this in her concurring opinion as well when she noted that "the 

limited case law interpreting 1.8(a) only addresses application of the rule 

to current clients." Op. at 31. 

In her Petition for Review, Defoor references the very same cases 

that the Court of Appeals found to be inapposite. First, the Court of 

Appeals found Defoor's reliance on Cotton v. Kronenberg, 111 Wn. App. 

258 (2002) "unavailing" because it involved the modification of a fee 
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agreement with an existing client: 

Cotton involved the modification of a fee agreement with an 
existing client. ... The second fee agreement, signed a few days 
after the first, transferred Cotton's real property and mobile home 
to his attorney, Kronenberg, in full satisfaction of Kronenberg's 
fees earned in the case. The second fee agreement was entered 
into after Kronenberg and Cotton's attorney-client relationship had 
commenced. 

Op. at 15. "Nothing like that happened here." !d. 

Valley/501
h Ave LLC v. Stewart, 159 Wn.2d 736 (2007), like 

Cotton, involved attorneys entering an agreement with their current client. 

The Court in that case found that an agreement between a law firm and its 

current client regarding unpaid fees was a business transaction falling 

within RPC 1.8(a). Defoor's expert, Mark Fucile, agreed that the Valley 

case concerned a business transaction with a current client and was 

"different" from the Re-Engagement Agreement "in the sense that she 

[Defoor] was at that point not a current client." CP 4126-4127. 

Holmes v. Loveless, 122 Wn. App. 470 (2004), likewise involved 

an attorney who was already representing the client at the time the alleged 

business transaction occurred (providing services to a joint venture in 

return for "five percent of any cash distributions produced by the joint 

venture"). See Holmes at 4 73 (noting that "In 1970, Holmes and his law 

firm began providing legal services to C.E. Loveless, a real estate 

developer," prior to the 1972 fee agreement and 1986 addendum being 

challenged in that case). 
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Moreover, and as the Court of Appeals found, even if Holmes did 

not involve current clients, Holmes is easily distinguished and "is actually 

consonant with" the view expressed by the Court of Appeals, because 

Holmes involved the grant of nonmonetary property as payment for fees. 

Op. at 13. Comment 1 to RPC 1.8(a) provides that "[the rule] does not 

apply to ordinary fee arrangements between client and lawyer, which are 

governed by Rule 1.5, although its requirements must be met when the 

lawyer accepts an interest in the client's business or other nonmonetary 

property as payment of all or part of a fee." Op. at 13 (emphasis in 

original) (quoting RPC 1.8 cmt. 1). Holmes involved nonmonetary 

property (equity in the client's business) as payment for fees, which 

triggered the exception to the rule identified in cmt. 1. The Re-

Engagement Agreement between RLG and Defoor, in contrast, provided 

for payment of hourly rates, which did not trigger cmt.l. As explained by 

the Court of Appeals (Op. at 14): 

In contrast to Holmes, here, RLG obtained no direct interest in 
Defoor's property as payment for the work performed. Instead, the 
Agreement stipulated that payment would be calculated on an 
hourly basis for services performed after RLG's re-engagement. 
RLG billed Defoor monthly for services rendered on Matter 2; all 
amounts unpaid were added to the sum due on the promissory note. 
The value ofthe compensation earned by RLG was measured by 
its rates and the hours worked. It was neither increased nor 
decreased by the value of the property to which a lien attached, 
securing unpaid amounts due. The grant of an interest to secure 
payment is not the same as payment. 

There is simply no Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision 
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conflicting with the Court of Appeals decision here.6 Review is, therefore, 

not warranted under RAP 13(b)(l) or (2). 

2. The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue of Substantial 
Public Interest 

Discretionary review also is not warranted because the Court of 

Appeals properly applied the law and its decision does not raise any issue 

of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Court in this 

case. Each of the four judges who have reviewed the issue have found 

that RPC 1.8(a) applies to current clients, and Defoor was not RLG's 

client when the Agreement was entered. The basis for that conclusion is 

clear and reasoned in the Court of Appeals Opinion. It follows the "plain 

language" of the statute, "the structure and organization ofthe rules," and 

the "principle underlying 1.8(a)." Op. at 10-11. 

This is a private dispute between RLG and Defoor, which will 

have no effect whatsoever beyond the parties and DWT. The Court of 

Appeals decision simply allows RLG to collect a portion of its unpaid fees 

and costs from the SeaTac Property that RLG obtained for Defoor through 

the litigation against Terry. 7 

6 State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91 (2010), was not cited by Defoor in the courts below and 
has no application here. It held: "Under recent revisions of the rules governing 
attorneys' professional conduct, it is now unethical for an attorney to sign a public 
defender contract to deliver public defense if the contract requires the attorney to pay for 
conflict counsel, expert witness, or investigative fees out of a lump fee." !d. at I 00. 
7 Rafel has never sought to enforce its lien against property other than that recovered in 
the litigation. See RLG Brief at p. 31. While Defoor- represented by DWT- argues 
that there was something improper about RLG requiring a lien to secure attorney's fees, 
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The Argument section of Defoor's Petition contains no explanation 

as to how the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest. The 

best Defoor can muster is her conclusory assertion that the Court of 

Appeals has "embraced an erroneous caveat emptor standard." Defoor 

made the same sensational argument in the Court of Appeals and it should 

be rejected here too. As noted, RPC 1.5 applies to fee agreements with 

new clients and requires that they be fair and reasonable. There is nothing 

unreasonable or uncommon about an attorney requiring security for 

payment of legal fees and the reasonableness of the security interest here 

was supported by unrebutted expert testimony.8 Further, RPC 1.8(a) has 

been in place for years -- in its current form applying to "Current Clients" 

-- without any public issue or concern being raised. 

Judge Schindler wrote separately to urge the Court to consider 

"whether RPC 1.8(a) should apply to a security interest during the 

negotiation of an initial fee agreement." She did so because a "recent 

Advisory Opinion 2209, 'Lawyer Taking Security Interest in Client 

Property' (2012), states that best practice would include compliance with 

the requirements ofRPC 1.8(a) in those circumstances." Op. at 31. 

DWT, as noted, acquired a lien against the same SeaTac Property, after such lien had 
already been granted by Defoor to RLG, and seeks to jump ahead of RLG through its 
efforts to invalidate the Re-Engagement Agreement at issue in this case and through a 
separate action it filed against RLG. See CP 4038-4042; CP 3992-3994. 
8 Notably, the ABA opinion cited by Defoor makes clear that the grant of a contractual 
security interest in the subject matter of the litigation in which the lawyer represents the 
client does not trigger RPC 1.8(a). /d. 
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Notably, theRe-Engagement Agreement here was entered in February 

2008, four years before this recent Advisory Opinion. Further, the 

Advisory Opinion states that compliance with RPC 1.8(a) would, as of 

2012, be "best practice," not that such compliance was in 2008, or is now, 

required by RPC 1.8(a). 

If there was an issue of substantial public interest that required a 

change to RPC 1.8(a), it would have been brought to the Supreme Court's 

attention long ago. There is not, and compliance with RPC 1.8(a) where a 

security interest is obtained during the negotiation of an initial fee 

agreement has now been announced by the Rules Committee to be "best 

practice." To the extent the Supreme Court wants to review the issue 

further, however, the proper course is through its rule-making process, not 

an arbitrary, after the fact, interpretation ofRPC 1.8(a) that ignores the 

plain language and structure ofthe current rules. See GR 9 (in 

promulgating court rules, the Court seeks to ensure, among other things, 

that "[a]ll interested persons and groups receive notice and an opportunity 

to express views" and such rules "are necessary statewide"); State v. 

McLean, 150 Wn.2d 583, 592 & n.4 (2003) (if rule change is "desirable," 

it "should be adopted through the normal rule-making process"; "[t]hat 

process enables all interested and affected parties to participate in creating 

the rule."). 
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B. Defoor Has Not Shown That Review of Any Other Issue Is 
Warranted 

In the last few pages of her Petition, Defoor argues that the Court 

should review four other rulings. Defoor's arguments fail to show any 

error by the Court of Appeals, let alone a conflict with prior case law or 

issue of substantial public interest. 

1. Award of Attorney's Fees in Underlying Litigation 

First, the fee award challenged by Defoor was supported by the 

unrebutted expert testimony of Jeffery Tilden. Defoor complains that she 

was charged Rafel's contingent rate of$450. But she ignores that Tilden 

testified (unrebutted) that RLG's rates were reasonable, and, in fact, 

"under the circumstances, his hourly rate is quite low." CP 990-992. She 

further ignores Tilden's other unrebutted testimony, including that "It 

makes perfect sense that a lawyer handling a case on an hourly basis will 

charge a higher-than-normal rate, when the client cannot pay during the 

engagement and the lawyer's ultimate compensation is dependent on 

winning the case and collection." !d. 9 Rafel' s rate was less than the rate 

that Defoor was charged by her counsel at DWT. CP 935. RLG was 

9 The Court of Appeals expressly noted Tilden's unrebutted opinions (at CP 990-992), 
including that: "the end result in the case was excellent; RLG's time keeping was more 
than adequate; the legal services described in the hourly time records and monthly 
invoices were necessary and appropriate; Rafel's hourly rate of $450 was reasonable, and 
in fact low, and that Tilden 'never would have taken this case on these terms for a 
number approaching $450/hour'; the rates charged by RLG's attorneys and staff were 
reasonable; and, the total fees sought for legal services in both matters were reasonable 
given the risks involved in accepting representation in a hotly contested case." Op. at 25. 
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awarded fees of $902,978.22 (not $2 million-plus as argued in Defoor's 

Petition) and this award was very close to the $860,054.50 in fees billed 

by Terry's lawyers, even though Stacey bore the burden of proof and 

Terry had all of the records. CP 978. 10 

In any event, Defoor fails to identify any Supreme Court or Court 

of Appeals precedent conflicting with the attorney fee award or any issue 

of substantial public interest that should be reviewed. 

2. Malpractice Counterclaim 

Defoor complains that factual disputes should have precluded 

summary judgment on Defoor's malpractice counterclaim. Again, Defoor 

is wrong on the merits and fails to identify any conflicting Supreme Court 

or Court of Appeals decision or issue of substantial public interest. 

Defoor argues in her Petition that RLG failed to bring to the 

court's attention a Camwest Assignment Fee that Terry held in a second 

UBS account and failed to trace Terry's post-separation disposition of 

community cash. These arguments ignore the record and the Court of 

Appeals' findings. The Court expressly found that "Defoor fails to raise a 

material question of fact as to whether RLG breached its duty of care": 

The record reveals that, in the underlying litigation, RLG did, in 
fact present to the trial court evidence of Terry's post-separation 
disposition of assets. RLG's expert provided the court a balance 

10 Notably, the trial court expressly found that "the same reasonable fee amounts are 
properly payable whether the basis for recovery is theRe-Engagement Agreement or 
quantum meruit." CP 2859; Op. at 23-24. 
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sheet and schedule showing Terry's assets and liabilities that 
existed when Terry and Defoor separated. Further, although RLG 
did not prove to the trial court that Terry transferred $950,000 of 
the $1,050,000 Cam west assignment fee to a new UBS account, it 
did present evidence to the trial court of G WC' s receipt of the 
$1,050,000 assignment fee." 

Op. at 19 (emphasis added). 

But even ifRLG had breached a duty (and it did not), Defoor 

failed to establish that she was harmed thereby. Defoor failed to 

"demonstrate that RLG's alleged failure to track post-separation 

disposition of community property harmed Defoor." Op. at 19. The Court 

explained that Defoor "puts forward no evidence indicating that the trial 

court would have awarded her a larger judgment had RLG differently 

accounted for the disposition of assets." !d. at 20. Further, "even if it 

were true that RLG failed to identify concealed assets, Defoor would 

nonetheless be entitled to recover half of them upon their disclosure." !d. 

Contrary to Defoor's argument that the Court of Appeals applied 

an incorrect standard of review, the Court concluded: "Accordingly, even 

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Defoor, no material 

factual disputes precluded summary judgment on her legal malpractice 

claim." !d. at 20 (emphasis added). 

3. Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

The Court of Appeals chastised Defoor for her claim (for which 

she now seeks discretionary review) that RLG breached its fiduciary duty 
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because it allegedly "filed excessive and unreasonable attorney's liens." 

Op. at 21. The Court found: "This claim is not well taken." Op. at 22 

(emphasis added). "Defoor offered no evidence establishing that RLG 

breached its duty in such manner." Op. at 22. "Conversely, RLG's 

expert, Jeffrey Tilden, opined that Matter 1 and Matter 2 fees ($505,000 

and $425,000, respectively)-- upon which the lien amounts were based--

were reasonable. Such expert testimony is unrebutted." Id. 

The Court also rejected Defoor's argument that RLG had 

improperly asserted liens for costs not actually paid. The Court found 

(Op. at 22) that RLG has paid costs in an amount greater than what was 

included in the liens: 

Defoor also argues that RLG's assertion of an attorney's lien for 
costs that had not actually been paid by RLG at the time of filing 
the lien was unlawful. ... However, the $274,250.28 in costs paid 
on behalf of Defoor is more than the $270,000 claimed in the 
attorney's liens. Further, both the initial contingency fee 
agreement and the Agreement require Defoor to pay RLG for all 
costs advanced on her behalf. Thus, Defoor fails to raise questions 
of material fact as to whether RLG breached its fiduciary duty by 
asserting an attorney's lien for costs incurred and paid. 

4. Prejudgment Interest 

Finally, Defoor incorrectly claims that the Court's grant of 

prejudgment interest conflicts with Prier v. Refrigeration Eng 'g Co., 74 

Wn.2d 25 (1968). To the contrary, the Court of Appeals expressly quoted 

Prier, holding that prejudgment interest is awardable "(1) when an amount 

claimed is 'liquidated' or (2) when the amount of an 'unliquidated' claim 
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is for an amount due upon a specific contract for the payment of money 

and the amount due is determinable by computation with reference to a 

fixed standard contained in the contract, without reliance on opinion or 

discretion." Op. at 29 (quoting Prier, 74 Wn.2d at 32). Here, the 

Agreement expressly provided for payment of interest, fees and costs, and 

the claim for fees and costs was also liquidated. Op. at 29; CP 434 and 

436. The fee award was readily calculated from the hours worked and 

hourly rates and was supported by the unrebutted Declaration of Jeffery 

Tilden. "' [S]aid sums are liquidated,"' and "were determined 'with 

exactness and without reliance on opinion or discretion.'" Op. at 29 

(quoting trial court). The fact that Defoor unsuccessfully disputed RLG's

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